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FOREWORD

ewish cultural hcritagc is a unique and valuable component of Europcan culture, which often remains hidden in nu-

merous cities once home to flourishing Jewish communities before WWIL In the pre-WWII era, Europe was home to a
Jewish population around 9 M, at least a third of them living in present day’s Danube Region. Jewish diaspora communities
introduced rich culcural idcntity, dccply rooted traditions and remarkable community hcritagc, all adding great value to
the hosting cities and their already existing local communities. The tragic turmoil of the mid-2oth century, followed by the
emigration of the surviving population in large numbers, depleted many of these communities; however, their imprints
and heritage are still there to be found.

Project REDISCOVER: expose and exploit the concealed Jewish heritage of the Danube Region aims at capitalizing on this
legacy by creating value in social cohesion, tourism potential and cultural abundance. The main objective is to build on
curi‘ently undiscovered potential in the ]ewish cultural heritage of cities, having unexplored, nevertheless rich tangible and
intangiblc hcritagc elements, and dcvclop contemporary tourism solutions, while smartly arranging Visibility, :icccssibility
and sustainability. A key element of this approach is intangible heritage considered as a valid factor to create awareness
and interest within the tourism sector. By enlarging the current cultural offer and making the so far hidden heritage more
visible, accessible and more attractive, Szeged and the whole region will be better positioned to strengthen its cultural
cconomy.

Following these aims, we deliver this book to the Dear Reader in which the history of making the exceptional stained
glass windows of the famous synagogue in Szeged is described; furthermore, the importance and the rich symbolism of the

building is uncovered and the significance of its builder is highlighted.

The Lead Partner of the project, Municipality of‘Szcgcd, wishes to acl{nowlcdgc the contribution of the Jewish Community
of Szeged to successfully accomplish the main objectives of the project, safeguarding tangible and intangible Jewish cultural
heritage for the upcoming generations. Furthermore, Lead Partner wishes to express gi'atitude to Tibor Fényi, director of
Miksa Roth Memorial House, Budapest, to restorators Karoly Payer and Karoly Sos, to researchers Viktoria Banyai and
Balazs Fényes for their help to compile this book.



THE NEW
SYNAGOGUE OF
SZEGED

he synagogue of Szeged, considered as the masterpiece

of the famous Jewish architect Lipot Baumhorn', is the
second largest one in Hungary and the fourth largest syna-
gogue in the world.

It’s construction started five years after Jewish 1'Cligion was
granted equal rights with the historic Christian Churches
by law in 1895. “The synagogue is 48 m high and equally
10ng, rcﬂccting the elevated social status that the ]cwish
Community of Szeged had achieved by the end of the
century, being a substantial operator of local society and
cconomy. The number of its members rose ten times in the
period 01C1850 — 19107

Jewish people were allowed to settle in Szeged by the local
council in 1786. The first synagogue of the growing commu-
nity, seating 129 men and 99 women, had been built on the
plot of the New Synagogue between 1800 and 1803. How-
ever, the building soon proved to be too small and the com-
munity decided to build another, more spacious synagogue
that is the
so-called OId
Synagogue. It
was  designed
in  neoclassic
style by Hen-
rik and Jozsef
Lipovszky and

was built be-

tween 1840
and 1843.

Although the second
synagogue had seats
for 440 men and 300
women,  NUMmerous
complaints about the
lack of space reached
out to the leadership
of the community in

the second half of the

1850s.

As a result, decision
was made to build a
more  monumental
and impressive syn-
agogue by the local

Jewish community in

the early 1890s.

A design contest was advertised in 1897, ten contestants
applied by the deadline. The first prize was awarded
to Jewish architect Lipot Baumhorn, who designed
or redesigned over 40 synagogues in the territory of
the Austro-Hungarian M(marchy. The design contest
was attended by Marcell Komor and Dezsé Jakab, two
outstanding representatives of Hungarian Arc Nouveau.
Their plan (with further two designs), reflecting genuine
Hungarian Arc Nouveau style, was bought by the Church
Bui]ding Committee. Their concept ﬁnally materialized in
Subotica, where the synagogue of the Jewish community
stands on the square named after the two architects.

Major construction works of the synagogue in Szeged
started in August 1900, and were finished by October 1902;
however, inner works were still bcing carried out in 1903,
thus, the ceremonial opening took place on the 19™ of May
1903,

The whole procedure of construction was supervised by
the famous architect Lipot Baumhorn himself.

The most influential Jewish weekly paper Egyenldség
(Equality) publishcd a 7—pagc—1ong report on the opening
ceremony. "The dedication of the new Jewish temple was
a major celebration” Not only the outstanding work of
its era and its creators were celebrated, but the perfect
and complete harmony in which all classes and religious
congregations of the society of Szeged united™ The
celebration started with placing the kcystonc.S This event
was followed by the representative general assembly where
the portrait of the president of the Jewish community was
unveiled. Dr. zs6 Rosa von Varhely was deeply moved by

the act and then he
handed over the
gift of the Jewish
community, a
golden ring with
the picture of the
temple embossed,
to its builder®
The  community
said farewell to
its old synagogue
after the general
assembly.  Torah
scrolls were taken
out of the ark of
the old temple

and were carried
over to the new
building by people

singing in a festive
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march. The famous cantor Mér Schorr conducted the choir
and the musical programme. Three young women, dressed
in white, carried the key to the new building on a velvet
pillow. Architect Lipét Baumhorn received the silver kcy
in front of the temple and handed it over to Dr. Izs0 Rosa
von Varhely, president of the Jewish community, who
opened the gates of the new synagogue while giving a short
ceremonial speech. After that, the marching people entered
the building while horns were playe(i and were received by
the large crowd occupying the benches inside.



According to contemporary sources, significant represen-
tatives of the city and the region were at present as well
as Jewish leaders from Pest. Mano Roth stained glass artist
also attended the opening ceremony where prayer was held
by Mor Lowy, Rabbi of Timisoara, accompanied by 14
other Rabbis. Immanuel Léw, the most influential Rabbi
of the city, held the speeches of the celebration.

Immanuel Low described the building as follows in 1903:
“It is a fine example of modern synagogue architecture in
every detail as well as holistically”” Baumhorn’s exceptional
Eclectic style building became an outstanding structure of
the city and the era. The iron-structured church followed
the Eclectic style of the late 19™ century, resembling Moorish
influence.®

Decorative design elements of Arc Nouveau style can be
found on the cupola and the windows, furthermore,
Roman, Gothic and Renaissance style elements appear in the
synagogue?. The most imposing part of the building is the
cupola, being one of the most typical element of synagogue
architecture of its time. It is richly decorated with colourful
stained glass window panels. Its 24 pillars reflect 24 hours
in a day, above these, the white flowers on deep blue
background symbolize faith, while the lower greenish—
brownish strip stands for the Earth, and the stars on the
top in blue background symbolize the sky. According to art
historians, it clearly reflects the cupola of the Hungarian
Houses of Parliament that was being constructed at that
time. This parallel symbolizes the social position of Jews
in Hungarian nation and their intention to assimilate.
The church is characterised in every detail by thoughtful
symbolism, since Lipot Baumhorn placed his buildings
in a precise re]igious context. Baumhorn’s iconographic
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co-author in creating the concept of inner design was
Immanuel Low, the Chief Rabbi oszeged. He coined the
visual programme of the windows depicting the festive
cycles of the Jewish year in the synagogue. The windows
were made by Mano Roth, the younger brother of the well-
known Hungarian stained glass artist Miksa Roch.

GLASS ART IN ARCHITECTURE

AT THE TURN OF THE 19™
AND 20" CENTURIES

he art stylc Historicism was created by the romantic
nostalgia felt towards previous historic periods in
Hungary at the turn of the 19" and 20
dctcrmining Sty]c of this era was Art Nouveau in Hungary,

" cencuries. Another

an art style also seeking its roots in the past. Artists of both
styles, with exceptional enthusiasm and energy, intended
to rediscover old beauties, thus making their surround-
ings more aesthetic. This pursuit revived glass painting at
the turn of the century, highlighting the secret of radiant
giass.”’ Decorative painting, architectural scuipturc, art
locksmithery, architectural ceramics and glasswork were
the branches of applied art which, reinforcing each oth-
er, accomplished the concepts of contemporary ideologies
in art. In the meantime, monument protection also came
into force in Hungary." In the reconstruction works sever-
al church buildings were included; their coloured stained
glass windows also needed repair.” Due to these efforts,
revival of glass painting started in the 1870s, in which the

Hungarian state played a serious role. Noticing the special
demand of public and residential buildings Agoston Tre-
fort (1817-1888), minister of religion and public educa-
tion, founded the Institution of National Glass Painting
in 1878.8 Due to this act, glass paintings became appreci-
ated, establishing a valuable religious glass painting art in
the first decades of the 1900s. Owing to this, besides glass
manufactories, glass painters and glass artists experienced
prosperity in production. Glass painting workshops started
to spring; numerous public—7 residential- and church build-
ings were decorated with stained glass windows. Represen-
tatives of the profession formed the National Association
of Glass- and Porcelain Dealers and Glass Workers starting
their own journal in 1901. The suddenly reborn architec-
tural giass art rediscovered the aesthetic, visual and tech-
nical traditions of medieval times, enriching it with new
interpretations. The Roth brothers, Miksa and Mand with
]ewish origin piayed an outstanding role in this process.™




MANO ROTH, ARTIST OF THE WINDOWS

OF THE NEW SYNAGOGUE
IN SZEGED

mong the Roth brothers, by no doubt, Miksa, the ¢l-

der brother achieved significant reputation with his
painted glass windows and mosaics. However, it is a less-
er-known fact that his brother Man¢ left the same work of’
value and quality, though less in number, to posterity. An
outstanding work of his art is the cycle of glass paintings of
the New Synagogue in Szeged. While plenty of data can be
found about Miksa, information is scarce abourt the life and
works of the younger brother Mano; therefore, our inten-
tion is to fill the void with this publication.

The younger brother was Miksa’s junior with 3 years and
was born in Budapcst on 2 March 1868 as the seventh child
to parents Maria Dullner and Zsigmond Roth.> His original
first name was Emanuel that he later changed (around the
end of the 18903) to its Hungarian form Mano. At the same
time, simiiariy to his elder brother, he also started using
the accented, Hungarian form of his family name Réch.
His career in glass art was shaped by family traditions,
just as Miksa’s. Mano also followed the footsteps of their
northern—Hungariaﬁ ]ewish grandfather, Samuel Roth and
their father, Zsigmond Roth.

His ancestors were glassworkers producing sheet glass
within the framework of a guild. It was his father, Zsigmond

Roth who broke with this tradition: “My father is the only
expert in producing stained glass windows in our country”
— wrote Miksa, his son.” Zsigmond was inspircd by his
masterpiece as he was required to make a multi-coloured
pointed window. Later on, it was the kind of knowledge
that helped him stand out of his fellow glassmakers, earning
him a prosperous, large segment of the market.” He started
his own business in 1860 after the guild was dissolved
and soon became a highly demanded glassmaker in the
capitai.‘9 Simpie giassmaking did not sattisfj7 his interest, he
furcher developed his skills and was engaged in producing
decorative and painted glasses, becoming a role model
for his sons. He worked together with the most famous
Hungarian architects of his time, moreover, he also had
several tenement houses constructed.*® However, his career
could not be fully manifested, since he became bankrupted
in the mid 1870s for a major loan transaction, leading him
financially suffer until the end of his life (1885).”" Later on,
his son Miksa led his company after returning from a two-
year study visit abroad.” Miksa’s great talent and the social
network inherited from his father brought him gencrai
acclaim. Nonetheless, this might expiain his brothers,

Man0’s background position.

No data can be found on how and when Mano joined glass
industry. It is assumed that, similarly to his brother, he also
started working as a child learning the basic skills of the
profEssion in his father’s Workshop.23 No data about his
school years was found either. According to his marriage
certificate, he was working as a glass-painting apprentice in
1898, prcsumabiy in his brother’s company. This assumption
is further supported by the fact that Mano was helping his
brother to paint the decorative windows of the Hungarian
Parliament in 1896.*

Mano, starting an indcpcndcnt business and art career,
had been member of the Association of Hungarian
Applied Art since 19007 and joined the National
Association of Glass- and Porcelain Dealers and Glass
Workers in the following year. According to the minutes
of the Association, he was an active participant at the
assemblies.”® Tt was Mand who proposed the idea of
establishing a training school for glassmakers in 1902.”
Mano left the Association in 1910 for unknown reasons.
In 1918, he re-joined the Association; moreover, he was

Réth Mané &

UVEGFESTESEK, UVEGEDZESEK, MUUVEGEZESEK
A LEGJUTANYOSABE ARAE MELLETT. % TELEFON 5600.

BUDAPEST, VIII. KERULET, VIG-UTCZA 6. SZAM.

The two brothers had a harmonious rciationship based on
Miksa’s personal notes. However, Mano decided to establish
his own business at 6 Vig u., Budapest in 1899. Based on his
brother’s notebooks it is clear that Mano helped him out
with major works several times. For instance, they worked
together on the iarge mosaic picture decorating the Lederer
House at 42 Bajza u., Budapest in 1909 as once told by Amalia
Réch, Miksas daughter® They neither obstructed, nor did
compete against each other except in the case of making the
stained glass windows of the famous Gellért Thermal Bath.
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stated as president of the Glass Painters’ Board in the
official minutes in 1919." During these years, he ran
independent workshops, which locations changed in 3—4
years according to commercial registers.”” He maintained
work relationship with the most outstanding figures of
Hungarian art and architecture, among them were Odon
Lechner, Lipot Baumhorn and Jozsef Rippi—Ronai. No
data remains about his work after 1920, it can only be
stated that his name does not appear in the commercial
register from 1928.



It is worth mentioning the difficult economic climate
after WWT that must have hindered orders for expensive
glass artworks such as glass mosaics that Mano himself
much favoured. The newly rooted art style Bauhaus with
its modern, clear geometric shapes and large glass surfaces
was far standing from the rich style elements of the early
decades of the 20" century.

Despite of common belief; it was Mano Roth who created
the stained glass windows of the New Synagogue in
Szeged (1902). He also made the colourful stained glass
windows and the cupola of the building housing the
Chamber of Business and Commerce in Gyér (1904).%
He composed the decorative windows of the auditorium
in the Reformed High School in Kecskemét (1911); the
staircase window depicting Arcadia, based on the design
of Jozsef Rippl-Ronai in the Ernst Museum in Budapest,
now called Robert Capa Centre for Contemporary
Photography (1912). Furthermore, he made the decorative
stained glass windows and 6o compositions (various
sizes) from glass mosaics of the so-called Blue Church
in Bratislava, designed by the famous architect Odon
Lechner (1913).34

Only reconstruc-

S/ tions exist of

/ . the church that

was destroyed

during WWI.

Based on Rippl-

Roénai’s notes, he

made plans of

decorative glass

windows for the
Museum of Applied
Art; however, these
were never made
because WWI broke
out.’ Presumably,
decorative stained
glass window(s) of
the synagogue in
New Pest were cre-
ated and donated by
Mano Réth to which
a letter of gratitude
refers o however,
they were destroyed
during the war.
Mand also created

the monumental
Io—pancl glass painting dcpicting Buda’s death (from
the famous Hungarian poet Janos Arany’s epos) in the
reception room of Gellert Thermal Batch. Unfortunately,
this outstanding work of art was also destroyed in the
war (1918); however, decorative stained glass rooftop
windows of the hall survived.

Little is known about his private life. According to
official records, he married Fani Kohn (187571943)7 who
was also an Israclite, on 4 December 1898. Contrary to
Miksa, Mano remained faichful to his re]igion until the
end of his life. He died of tuberculosis on 16 November
1935 at age 67.°

]Cwish cemetery in Budapcst.

His grave can be found in the Kozma u.

GLASS PICTURES
OF THE
SYNAGOGUE

fter the Jewish community of Szeged made a final
decision to have their new synagogue built according

to Lipot Baumhorn’s plans, they issued a call for proposals
for artisans, including glassworkcrs in June 1900.% Mand
Roétch's company, app]ying with Vilmos Kohn g]assmzﬂ(er
from Budapest,

handed in che

on]y app]ication
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project.*” The
executors did not
have an casy job,
since Immanuel
Low defined the
iconographic plan
for cach of the
windows.

No data are found
about pre-painted
drawings for the

windows; however, such drawings must have been made
based on general practice. Only one written document,
entitled Windows of the synagogue of Szeged, Programme, can be

found among the implementation plans of the synagogue.
Although the text does not reflect Immanuel Low’s hand-
writing; however, presumably, his concepts were outlined
in the programme. Based on the content, the responsible
architect and the glass artist were given a well-defined order
with precise graphical intentions coined by Immanuel Low.
This concept had to be graphically visualized by Baumhorn
and executed with stained glass by Roth.#* Selecting the pre-
cise shades and the types of glasses were the jobs of the glass
artist; therefore, besides Baumhorn, Mano Roth not only
had an ‘executive role’ in creating the decorative windows,
he also served as co-author in visualising the clements of the
programme.® Nevertheless, Mano executed the work he was
commissioned for in an outstanding quality.
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Dcspite of the high quality work of the windows and the
cupola, they had to be restored a number of times over
the past century. First major damage to the windows and
the cupola was caused by WWI; fortunatcly, the structure
of the synagogue remained intact. Restorer Karoly Sos
described the situation as follows: “Luckily, there was an
anonymous, forward—thinking wise man who, at the time
of filling in the gaps with new glass panels, repainted the
origina] patterns with some kind of tar-containing paint.
Thus, when the time for the first salvage came, it was a
considerable help for the restorers.”* Windows, in almost
unrecognizable condition were managed to be restored.

The late Laszlo Dux, an architect honoured by the highly
prestigious Kossuth Prize, supervised the restoration
works.# Following the reconstructions and cleaning the
glass panels of the cupola in 1989, further repair works were
carried out in 2003, patching the gaps of window pane]s.
Professional restoration of 400 m* windows were carried
out under chief art restorer Karoly Payer’s supervision in
co-operation with the workshop of Holtsag Led. in 2017.

Windows of the synagogue, similarly to the decorative
painting of the church, are loaded with symbols.
Immanuel Low paid special attention even to the smallest
details when dcsigning them, from carcfully planning the
colours, the small patterns of borders to representing
large objects. For instance, the Kiddush cup in the middle
section of the Sabbath-window and Esther’s rolls in a
silver case on the Purim-window were based on objects
from the French Strauss Judaica collection. Isaac Strauss’
collection was the first of its kind in the 19® century.
The catalogue of the first exhibition in Paris (1878)
published the first scientific description of Jewish relics.
Chanukah lamp of the ninth window was based on an
object displayed in the Jewish Museum in Vienna, which
was the first of its kind in Europe, founded in 1895. These
facts refer to Low’s exceptional general knowledge as well
as to the contemporary Jewish practice of representation.
Jewish past, interpreted by collections (in the current
case by the images of windows) strengthened Jewish self-
esteem.?’
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Ten downstairs windows depict the festive cycles of the
Jewish year, which are repeated on the upstairs windows.
Further two windows are added to the set of ten windows,
one above the choir and the other one above the main en-

trance door#

Considering the themes of the windows on the northern
and southern sides of the synagogue, it can be seen that
their contents are interrelated. Opposite the group of
windows depicting everyday work, Saturday’s ban of work
appears; as opposed to the exodus from Egypt (Pesach),
symbols of the Savout festival (handing over the Torah),
"

starting after the 50™ day of Pesach, are depicted; opposite

the window of New Year, the one symbolizes Yom Kippur
(Day of Atonement); the window depicting the Feast of
Tabernacles (Sukkot) is paircd with the image of the fall
festival of Torah.#

The large upstairs window, opposite the alcar, does not
fall within the cycle of festive windows; it serves historical
remembrance.” Since Jewish religion is a historical one,
remembrance connects the historical facts of recent
and biblical times. The large window depicts the Old
Synagogue at the time of the Great Flood in 1879, as well as
the building of the New Synagogue. Among the emblems
of architect Lipét Baumhorn, his name can be read on
the right side; while on the left side, the crest of noble Dr.
[zs0 Rosa, president of the Jewish community, was placed.
Above them, on the smaller size windows, symbols (cultic
dishes, breastplate of the high priest, menorah, priestly
blessing)  from  the
Sanctuary of Jerusalem
remind of the biblical

times.

Themes (such as harps)
of the windows on the
organ gaﬂery, stating its

function,  complement

the order of the glass —
windows of the syn- . R |
agogue” The rows of i Al

stained glass windows -
are crowned with the : J
large glass cupola, incor- EX s

porating the earthly and

heavenly spheres. This

piece of art is the greatest

jewel of the synagogue. | 13



Donations were offered by members of the Jewish Roth, young glass painter from Budapest exceedingly

community not only for the construction works of the  overcame the new and difficult challenges with artistic

synagogue, but the decorative (and other types of) windows — ambition and great success.”* Choosing glasses wi erfect
ynagog but the d tive (and oth VE f) d bit {gt 52 Ch égl thpf

were also privatcly financed to a largc extent. The paintcd colour, surface and marbling requires artistic qualitics, at

stained glass windows depicting the Jewish New Year, Rosh  the same time considering the role of light equally shaping

RN 4 _PHTa !

14

55

Hashanah, above the southern entrance was the artist,  the composition was also crucial.® These were accompanied

Mano Roth’s personal donation to the Jewish community by the Rabbi's iconographic programme. The younger Roth

ZlCCOl'diTlg to thCiI' 'AI'ChiVCS, Al‘ChiV'Al I'CCOI‘d states th’dt M. brothcr cxccﬂcntly amalgamated 2111 thCSC rcquircmcnts

Lipot Low, Rabbi Immanuel Low’s mother, donated the  creating windows worthy of the aesthetics of the synagogue.

window depicting Sabbath.

Our publication aims at showcasing these masterpieces to

After the stained glass windows were completed, coiner of  the Dear Reader, accompanied by short description& and

their concept Immanuel Low wrote the fbllowing: “Mano  the cxplanations of Hebrew and Yiddish notions.>*

CROTHMANO | ke [ oAy
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Lipdt Baumhorn (1860-1932) is the most outstanding figure of the
Hungarian eclectic synagogue architecture. The Israclite architect studied
at the famous Ludwig Frster’s school in Vienna, then he started working
in Odon Lechner and Gyula Pdrtos’ workshop in Budapes[; the time spent
here heavily influenced his artistic work. Lechner’ affection to decorative
and eastern-style architectural elements had an impact on Baumhorn’s
architectural style as well. He built altogether 24 synagogues. Including

his redesigns, this number may amount to 42. The Synagogue of Szeged

is the highlight of his career, built in Eclectic style. This style, similarly to
cathedrals built in Romanesque style, is characterized by heavily contoured
spaces, having the cupola as the ruling, central feature. Klein 2o11, p. 115.
Pacsika 2018.

Léw 1903, p. 3.

Egyenldseg, 24 May 1903, Melleklet p. 1. (n. n. A szegedi uj zsido templom).
Along with the keystone, a time capsule was also placed including an
architectural plan, the annual report of the Jewish community and its
associations, list of names stating members and representatives of the
community, rules of procedures, coins and daily newspapers. Egyenldség, 24
May 1903, Melleklet p. 1. (n. n. A szegedi uj zsido templom).

Vasdrnapi Ujsdg, 1903, Vol. 50. No 21. p. 338,

Léw 1903, p. 5.

Moorish or Oriental style was a typical fearure of synagogues builr ac

the turn of the 19/20th century. These stylistic features first appeared on
synagogues in German territories in the second half of the 19th century. The
deliberately chosen stylistic elements were connected to the eastern origin of
Jews; furthermore, it was in parallel wich the omission of pictures in Jewish
tradition. This style was much favoured at the time of emancipation in
Hungary, rhyming with the eastern origin of Hungarians. Thus, it created a

common denominator between Hungarian and Jewish identities. For further

information see: Klein 2011, p. 62-63. and p. 544-553.
For further information about the history and architectural analysis of the
synagogue see: Oszkd 2013. p. 37.

10 Sziics — Foldényi — Fiiri — Gonzales — Oberczdn 2005, p. 15.
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Balogh 2010, p. 29.

Varga 1996, p. 64-65.

Balogh 2010, p. 29.

Balogh zo10, p. 30.

Children of the Roth couple: Samuel 9 March 1857 - 1863; Ida 7 July 1859 -

2 Marta June 25 1860 - % Eleondra 29 January 1863 - 1885; Helena 28 July

1864 — New York 1934; Miksa 26 December 1865 — 14 June 1944; Emanuel

(Mand) 2 March 1868 — 16 November 1835; Kalmdn (later aka Kalmdn Pesti

actor) 21 December 1869 - 2. Sources of data: Fényi, 2005. p. 7-9.

Tibor F(’/nyi’s communication.

Réth 1943, p. 27.

According to data from 1856, 24 Jewish glassworkers operated in Pest. Fényi

2005, p. 13, 20.

Fc/nyi 2005, p. 15.

Zsigmond Roth had the large tenement houses at 19 and 41 Mizeum krt.

builc according to Miklds Ybl's plans; the famous architect personally

supervised the construction works. The buildings were decorated at

exceptionally high standards, including statuettes, marble columns and

decorative elements transported from Vienna. He worked together with such

notable architects and glass artists as Adolf Lang, Gusztdv Petschacher,

Adolf Feszty, a Taussig and Forgd glass company. Further information:

F(’/nyi 2003, p. 16-17, 20.

Fényi 2005, p. 16-19.

Miksa, following three years of study in Hungary, travelled on to study in

France and Belgium. He started his independent business in 1884. Fenyi

2005, p. 20-21.

Miksa Rath, at the age of 12, was already making stencils needed for cutting
¢ pieces 1 % =k e e EAmm = p

glass pieces in his father’s workshop. Sziics 2003, p. 30.

Tibor Fényis communication.

Mano’s name appears several times among the co-workers paid by Miksa in

his notebook. Tibor Fényi’s communication.



26

27
28

29

31
32

3

3

o
NG

36

[s}

37

38

Q

4

=

4

Pictures were designed by Kdroly Kernstock, a famous painter of his time.
Data provided by Tibor Fényi.

See the report in Magyar Iparmiivészet, 1900, Vol 4, No 1—2 p. 87.

Annual reports on activates can be read in the Association’s thematic
journal Magyar Uveg— és Agyagﬁjsa/g started in 1901.

Magyar Uveg- és Agyagtljsdg ,1902, Vol. 2, No 21(44) p. 2=3 (Egyesiileti
Hirek) Practicing the profession was only tied to certification 20 years

later according to the law of 1 November 1923. For further information see:
Saghelyi 1938, p. 345-349.

Magyar Uveg- és Agyaguijsdg, 1910, Vol. 10, No 2(216), p. 5 (Egyesiileti hirek)
Magyar Uveg- és Agyaguljsdg, 1919, Vol. 19, No 1(430), p. 2 (Egyesiileti hirek)
6 Vig u. in 1900; 59 Népszinhdz u. brw. 1901-1903; 6 Sziv u. brw. 1904-1906,
21 Munkdesy . btw. 1907-1909; 44 Bajza . bew. 1910-1914; 14 Blint u.

in 1916. Sources of data: Budapesti Czim- és Lakasjegyz¢k 1880-1928.
Forthermore: Budapesti Gydrosok, Iparosok és Kereskedck Cimjegyzéke; A
budapesti és a kirnyekbeli tavbeszél6-halézatok elofizetdinek ¢s nyilvanos
dllomdsainak betiirendes névsora. Budapest, 1917.

Source of data: Gyori Kereskedelmi és |, parkamam K(')'zgyﬁle/si
jegyzokdnyvei, Pannonia Nyomda, Gyor, 1904, p. 49. On-line access:hteps://
edok.gyorikonyvear.hu/book/~/record/display/manifestation/33701/b6cbbé7b-
6198-4518-9d29-1cebeado43ac/solr/o/24/10/4952/score/DESC (downloaded: 9
December 2019)

Only reconstructed versions of the windows exist, since the original ones
were destroyed in WWI. Hal’ko 2007, p. 50-51.

The Museum of Applied Arts stores Rippl-Ronai’s window plan drawn on
cardboard in 1915, and Mand RSth’s lecter in which he accepted Rippl-
Rénai’s request to create it (database of the Museum of Applied Arts.
326/1915. No 4794/b.). It is interesting to note that Sandor Pap designed

the other window of the staircase and Miksa Roth was asked to execute it;
however, none of the windows was ever made. Prékopa 1998, p. 101.

Source of data: heeps://library.hungaricana. hu/hu/view/
mioi_muzeumi_iratok_adomanykoszonok/?query=R%C3%B3th%20
Man%C3%B3&pg=96&layout=s (downloaded: 30 November 2019)
Hungarian State Marriage Records, Budapest, district VII.,1320/1898.
On-line access: https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:33HY-6X7S-
WGY?i=205Gwe=927M-FM9%3A40678301%2C64280001%2C1077262902¢
ce=1452460 (downloaded: 9 December 2019)

Hungarian State Death Records, Budap@sr, district X., 1178/1935. On-

line access: ht[ps://wwwfamilys@arch.m’g/ark'/élgog/ 3:1:53HT-XC39-
2P8?i=34@cc=1452460 (downloaded: 9 December 2019)

Advertisement published on 6 June 1900 in Vallalkozck Kozlonye.

Source of data: Minutes of the Church Building Committee of the Jewish
Community of Szeged, 12 July 1900, Archives of the Jewish community of
Szeged, Building documentations of the synagogue, box I1. 6.

Miksa Roth also worked in a similarly way, often having Jozsef Forgo as his
co-worker and financier of the glasses. Tibor Fenyi’s communication.

42

4

(Y]

44/

45
46

47
48

Designing the windows was generally the architect-designer’s responsibilicy.
In our case, it is supported by the fact that Baumhorn’s original window
plans made for the synagogue of Gydngyds survived. These drawings show
similarities to the window patterns of the New Synagogue in Szeged.
Furthermore, several Szeged window patterns are precisely repeated on

the windows of the Bethlen Square synagogue in Budapest, also built by
Baumhorn between 1930 and 1932. The same can be seen in the archival
photos taken in the synagogue of Brasov, also built by Baumhorn. For the
data provided credit goes to Agnes Oszkd,

Handwriting of the programme can neither be attributed to Immanuel Lw
nor to Mand Rdch; cherefore, it is impossible to identify the writer’s person.
Later on, names of donors, sums of donations and the prices of window
panels were written in the same document, making identiﬁcation it even

more difficult.

S0s 2012.

Karoly Sés’ communication.

Isaac Strauss (1806-1888) was an Alsatian musician of Jewish decent,
conductor of Napoleon IILs court orchestra and an art collector. Besides
furniture and paintings, he collected Jewish ritual objects and manuscripes
which were displayed in Paris in 1878. This was the first time when the wide
audience could see Judaica at an exhibition in Europe. His collection was
taken to the Museum of Cluny in 1890, representing the integration of Jews
into French society. Now, objects can be seen in the Musée dArt et d Histoire
du Judaisme in Paris. Berger 2018, p. 41-65.

‘Toronyi 2007.

The place and number of windows, following certain patterns is not
unknown in the hcrirage of Jewish church building. According to medieval
Jewish mystical literature, windows serve as means to transfer prayer to
God. Hence, a synagogue without windows is an inadequate place for
prayer. It was also part of the concept that the earthly synagogue had a
parallel in the skies, having 12 windows. Thus, earthly synagogues were
required to have 12 windows as well. Effects of this medieval belief had
disappeared by the 19" century; however, the concept of 12 windows placed
in pairs remained in certain iconogmphic programmes, such in Immadnuel
Low’s. Klein 2011, p. 59.

Low 1914, p. 30-32.; Varga-Papi 2017, p. 65.

Low 1914, p. 30-32.; Varga-Papi 2017, p. 135.

Léw 1914, p. 30-32.; Varga-Papi 2017, p. 68.

Léw 1903, p. 10.

Varga 1996, p. 53.

Sources of descriptions are studies written by Léw (1903, 2014) and Varga-
Papi (2017). Explanations of Hebrew and Yiddish words are based on the
works of Szarvas 2017. p. 157-159.; Olah 2009.

LITERATURE

« BALOGH, Eleonéra. 2010. Epitészcti L'ivcgmﬁvészc[ f\4agyarorszdgon. In:
Ludvik Losos ed.: Uvegmitvészet az épitészetben. Budapest. Cser Press. p.
28-46.

* BERGER, Natalia. 2018. The Jewish Museum. History and Memory,
Identity and Art from Vienna to the Bezalel National Museum. Jeruselem
— Leiden — Boston. Bill.

« DR. SAGHELYI, Lajos. 1938. A magyar iivegesipar oreenete. Budapcsr. A
budapesti iivegesek, ilvegcsiszolok, tivegedz6k ¢s tivegvésdk, iiveghajlicok,
S S
; o . s n 2 E
iivegfoncsorozék, ivegforraszeok, tiveg-, porcelldan- és fayencefestdk,
mozaikmitvesek és tiikorkészitk ipartestiilete.

« Egyenl6ség, 1903 24 May. Melléklet p. 1. (n. n. A szegedi uj zsid6 cemplom).

« HAL’KO, Jozef- 2007. A Kek templom. A pozsonyi Szent Erzsébet templom
torténete. Budapest. METEM — Szent Istvan Tarsulac.

« KLEIN, Rudolf. 2011. Zsinagégak Magyarorszagon 1782—1918.
Fejlédéstreenet, tipoldgia és éptrészeti jelentdscg. Synagogues in Hungary
1782-1918. Gcncalogy, Yivpology and Architectural Signiﬁcancc. Budapest.
Terc Kfr.

« LOW, Immdnuel. 1903. A szegedi Uj zsinagdga. Szeged. Traub és Tarsa.

- LOW, Immdnuel. A szegedi 1ij zsinagdga ablakfestészete. In: Barna Gdbor
— Glésser Norbert — Zima Andras ed.: Zsido folklor tanulmanyok. Szeged.
Néprajzi ¢s Kulturalis Antropologiai Tanszék, 2014, p. 30-48.

» Magyar Iparmﬁvc’szcr, 1900, Vol 4, No 1—2 p- 87.

« Magyar Uveg- és Agyagtijsdg, 1902, Vol. 2, No 21(44) p. 2-3. (Egyesiileci
hirek)

* Magyar Uveg— es Agyagujsag, 1910, Vol. 10, No 2(216), p. 5. (Egyesiileti
hirek)

- Magyar Uveg- és Agyaguijsdg, 1919, Vol. 19, No 1(430), p. 2. (Egyesiileti
hirek)

« OLAH, Jdnos. 2009. Judaisztika. Budapest. Gabbiano Print.

« OSZKO, Agnes Ivett. 2013. Baumhorn Lipdt és megbizéi. A zsidd
asszimildcio épitészeti megnyilvdnuldsai a szdzadfordulos Szegeden.
In: Gaylhoffer-Kovdcs Gabor — Székely Miklos ed. ALS I[CH CAN —
Tanulmanyok Urbach Zsuzsa 8o. sziiletésnapjdara. Budapest. CentrAr. p.
34-45.

« OSZKO, Agnes Ivett. 2019. A zsinagégaépitészer térszerkeszeési és sttlusbeli
jel/egzetcsse/gei Baumhorn Lipdt (1860-1932) élermitvében. Budapest. ELTE
PhD dissertation, manuscript.

« PACSIKA, Emilia. 2018. deog csoddk, ﬁvegbolrozat - szegcdi U]
Zsinagdga. in Epttészforum, heep://epiteszforum. hu/badog-csodak-
uvegboltozat-szegedi-uj-zsinagoga (downloaded: 19 November 2019).



- PREKOPA, Agnes. 1998. Rippl-Rénai J6zsef iparmitvészeti tevékenysége.
In: Nagy Ildiko ed.: Rippl-Rénai Jozsef gytijteményes kidllirasa. A Magyar
Nemzeti Galéria kiadvanyai 1998/1, p. 93-112.

« ROTH, Miksa. 1942. Egy L'lvcgfest(’)’mﬁvész az iivcgﬁ’stc’szetrél. Budapcst.
Author’s publication, (reprint: 1999. Budapest. Réth Miksa Alapitodny és
Uvegmﬁzcum)

« ROTH, Miksa. 1943. Egy iivegfestomiivész emlékei. Budapest.
Hungaria Kiadds. (Reprint: 1999. Budapest. Roth Miksa Alapitvany és
Uvegmdzeum).

« SOS, Kdroly. 2012. A szegedi 1ij zsinagdga. in Templomablak anno 2012.
06. 07. On-line access: htps://templomablakanno.blog.hu/2012/06/07/a_
szegedi_uj_zsinagoga?fbclid=IwAR3SbehU84OJxZin1yMR-UBVUmxxHkF
IzcIG10y60]gOrzvrtozxk_mZCQ (downloaded: 10 December 2019)

« SZARVAS, Zsuzsa (ed.). 2017. Zsido tdrgyak. Jewish Objects. Catalogi
Musei Ecthnographiae 24. Budapest. Néprajzi Miizeum — Museum of
Ethnography.

- SZUCS, Endre — DORGO, Miklés — FOLDENYI, Gyérgy — FURI, Judic
— GONZALES, Gdbor — OBERCZAN, Gyorgy. 2005. A megfestett fény.
Disziiveges munkak a torténelmi Magyarorszag épitészetében 1945-ig. Light
captured in colour. Glass painting in Hungarian architecture before 1945.
Budapest. Geobook Press.

« TORONYI, Zsuzsanna. 2007. Miivészet és miizeum. A judaicagyiijees
p nn Ry s ¢
ertelmezési lehetdségei Magyarorszagon. in Hacofe Vol.1. On-line access:
heeps://or-zse.hu/hacofe/voli/toronyi-muveszetz007.hem (downloaded: 10
December z019)

« Vallalkozok Kozlonye, 1900, June 6.

« VARGA PAPI, Laszlo. 2017. Az 616k reménység temploma. On-line access:
heeps://mek.oszk.hu/19500/19577/ (downloaded: 21 November 2019)

« VARGA, Vera. 1996. A szecesszio miivészi iivegei. Kapcsolamk a
historizmus iwegmitvészetével. Budapest. Sub Rosa Press.

. Vasdrnapi [7jsdg, 1903, Vol. 50, No. 21, p. 338.

LIST OF PICTURES

12.

5-

Old Synagogue in 1947. FORTEPAN/Donor: Jdnos Kozma, picture No 31411.

Tabernacle of the Old Synagogue, MILEV, accessed on 20 November 2019, heep://collections.milev.hu/items/show/26761.
Bulding the synagogue of Szeged MILEV; accessed: 20 November, 2019, http://collections.milev.hu/items/show/26738.
The synagogue of Szeged MILEV, accessed: 20 November 2019, heep://collections.milev.hu/items/show/26740.

The new synagogue in 1908, FORTEPAN/Donor: Schmidt Albin, picture No 86290.

Mand Réeh’s advercisement in Magyar Uveg és Agyagtijsdg 1903.08.16./16. (63) No 4.

Mané Réth’s signature, archives of Roth Miksa Emlekhaz.

Mang Réch and Fani Kohn’s gravestone in Kozma str. Jewish cemetery. Photo taken by Karoly Payer 2018.

Immdnuel Low’s description about the planned windows written in German, architectural documentations of the synagogue, Box I1. 6., Archives of the
Jewish Community of Szeged.

Window plans of the New Synagogue in Szeged, architectural documentations of the synagogue, Box II. 6., Archives of the Jewish Community of Szeged.
Restored window of the synagogue in the workshop of Holtsag Led. Photo taken by Holesdg Led.

Concept about the layourt of windows in Immanuel Léw’s plans, Mano Roch’s window plans, architectural documentations of the synagogue, Box I1. 6.,
Archives of the Jewish Community of Szeged.

Painted visual plan of the decorative painting of the synagogue made by Fredmenszky Béla, 1902. architectural documentations of the synagogue, Box I1.
6., Archives of the Jewish Community of Szeged.

Mané Réth’s donation, architectural documentations of the synagogue, Box I1. 6., Archives of the Jewish Community of Szeged.
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The three—part group of windows symbo]izes Workday, based on the fbﬂowing verse from the Bible: “It
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you will eat your food” (Gen. 3:18). The window in the middle shows an Arabic wooden p]ough between

two wheat-stalks, while blue field eryngo (Eryngium) can be seen on the side window pands. Phylacteries

by
L |
w

(tefillin) are depicted on the upper part of the windows. Each wheat-stalk and the six thistle heads on the

border refer to seven days in a week. On the outer window borders there are images of identical lilies from
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Hasmonean coins; the eightfpoimed—star of‘%en Salome can be seen in the corner.
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Teﬁllin is compiled of two black leather boxes; inside there is a biblical text written on parchment According to Jewish

I
Ty

customs, it is worn at morning prayers on weekdays by men over 13 years of age.
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Hashmonean is a synonym for Maccabean people. They were the offsprings of a Jewish priest leading the Jewish people
between 167-63 B.C.
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This three—part group of windows symbolizes Shabbat. The inscription comes from the Shabbat song:

“Come my beloved to meet the bride ...” referring to the elevated reception of Saturday that is compared to
that of a bride. The 1‘ight side window depicts Friday night with a ]amp (upper part), two loaves of Shabbat
bread (Challah) and a small-sized Kiddush cup (lower part). The 1arge Kiddush cup and the Torah Scrolls in |

the middle window refer to the Saturday morning events. The left side window shows a spice box, a p]aited |

candle, a small cup among apple—ﬂowers symbolizing the end of Shabbat. Images of the inner border, cloves [
and olive branches, reflect the coming and the passing of Sabbath: clove symbo]izes the beginning, while the |
olive branch stands for the end.

Challah is the ceremonial bread of Friday night- and festive meals. |

Kiddush is a blessing usually said over a glass of wine on Sabbath and other celebration days. During the rite, wine is |

drunk from a special cup, called Kiddush cup. | (&







This two-part window symbolizes Pesach. There is small top window between the two huge panels depicting
a Seder plate; the two windows beneath show a pair of cups with the foﬂowing inscription: “The day of our
liberation”, below them, papyrus and reed rise from the sea as a reminder of the exodus across the Red Sea.
Images of the inside border depict barley and chicory tlower: barley is the sacrificial crop of Pesach, while |
chicory flower refers to the bitter grass of the night of Pesach. |

Pesach is the seven-day-long commemoration (eight days in the Diasporas) of the Exodus from Egypt. It usually falls in
the spring season and starts with the Seder nigh. I

Seder night’s meal is the festive meal held according to strict rules (Seder) and rituals on the furst day of Peach. The story
of the Exodus from Egypt and that of the Jewish people becoming a nation are told. Foods consumed during the meal all |
refer to these events. |







This double window depicts Shavuot, the Feast of Weeks. The Tablets of the Law can be seen on the top
window. Below, the two long Windowpanes show acacia twigs from the Nile region referring to the events
and aﬂy made on Mount Sinai. On the inside border, six roses (Rubus Sanctus) and a wheat-stalk are repeated
seven times, making 49 motifs symbolizing the number of days between Pesach and Shavuot. |

Shavuot is the festival organised seven weeks after Pesach, when Jewish people commemorate the act of receiving the

divine commandments and the Torah on Mount Sinai aﬁer the Exodus from Egypr.
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The set of windows above the southern door symbolize New Year, Rosh Hashanah. Two ram’s horns (shofar)
cross each other on the top window. Shofars are blown at the beginning of New Year, warning all Jews for
repentance and conversion. White lily and a red flower of pomegranate tree are depicted on the lower
windows; the red flower stands for sin, while the white one represents forgiveness. These windows are the
artist Mano Roth’s persona] donations.







The group of windows above the northern door symbo]ize the most prominent Jewish festival, Yom Kippur.
There is a sun-disk in the middle, with the inscription among the rays: “I have forgiven”. The red flower of
pomegranate and the white flower of‘]i]y are 1‘epeated here.

Yom Kippur is one the most relevamfesrivities of Jewish people. This fall celebration is the dayfbr conversion, repentance
and atonement, when a 25-hour total fasting is held.







This set of windows depicts the Feast of Tabernacles, Sukkot. The upper part shows seven rainbow circles
referring to the seven processions of the festive rituals and an altar in the middle. On the two large window
pane]s, booths with thatched roof and curtains are composed in between two palm branches. Willow and
myrtle flowers are repeated on the frame. These flowers along with Etrog (a type of citrus fruit) compose
the typica] festive Sukkot bouquet that is carried around the synagogue during the seven days of the festival.

Sukkot is the wceklong commemoration of ]Cwish people, wandering in the desert (aﬁer escaping ﬁ‘om Egypr). At the
time of this autumn festival, participants are expected to eat and sleep in a specially made and decorated booth for
this occasion. A rypical fearure of the celebration is a festive bouquet placed outside the booth containing lulav (palm
branch), Etrog, citrus- type fruits, willow and myrtles.
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This double window depicts Shemini Atzeret, which is the eighth, closing day fbﬂowing the autumn festival

Sukkort, and Simchat Torah (Rejoicing of the Torah).

7

On the right window panel Rachel’s grave is pictured, referring to the commemoration of the dead "Mazkir’,
which is part of the Shemini Atzeret festival. An open Torah scroll, Wrapped around with a ribbon, can be
seen on the left side window panel, referring to the conclusion of the annual cycle of public Torah readings
(54 weeks) and the beginning of a new cycle celebrated with a procession. In the top section, fruits, typical !
to Israel, such as ﬁg, olive, pomegranate, grapes and dates indicate the autumn season. The below inscription |
reads as follows: “Holy Spirit help us, hosanna” |

Rachel is Jacob wife in the Old Testament; their children were Joseph and Benjamin. |

Mazkir is []16 pT&lyG?‘fOT []”LG dead [OZCZ attc ]”Lt’ anniversmy Of i ]”LCiT CZCQ[[’I, on Saturdays and during Ehé’ aﬁernoon pmymt







The group of three»part windows symbo]izes the two joyous festivals, Purim and Chanukah. Mordecai’s
Crown is pictured on the top right window panel; below it Esther’s scrolls can be seen. The imscription from
the biblical book of Esther (8, 16) refers to Purim: “The Jews had ]ighL and gladness, and joy, and honour”.
The top middle window depicts two palm branches symbolizing victory, below them the blue-white ﬂag
of the Maccabees is framed by the images of their coins. Oil jar from the Temple is depicted on the top left
Window, below it the Chanukah lantern with eight oil burners and a small vax candle (shammes) can been.
Inside borders of the side window pzmels depict ginger and pepper flowers, essential ingl‘edients of the
Purim cake.

Purim is the celebration commemorating the saving of Jewish pcople ﬁ‘om Complctc annihilation planned by the Persian
vizier Haman. Esther’s book, telling this story, is read out on this day that is followed by mewymaking, wearing facc
masks and exchanging gifts.

O

Chanukah is an eight-day-long celebration in December during which the historic event is commemorated when the
Maccabee’s Jewish army liberated the Temple of Jerusalem from the idolatry of Syrian Greeks in 165 B.C. To celebrate
the liberation, lamps of the Temple were lit that were miraculously burning for eight days. The eight small lamps of the
Chanukah lamp resembles this phenomenon; they are lic by a shammes, a small candle.
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This three—part set of windows commemorates Tisha be-Av, the day of‘mouming for the fall of Jerusalem.
In the semi-circles of the upper parts, tumbleweeds, symbols of dispersal and Jericho rose, symbol of
resurrection, are depicted. Palm trees on the right and left p:me]s stand for Palestine. Remains from the
wall of Solomon’s Temple in Jerusalem along with cypress trees and ivy circulating on the inner border are |
pictured. The inscription on the window pzmels reads as follows: “If T fbrget you, oh, Jerusalem, may my right |

”

hand forget its skill

King Solomon’s Temple in Jerusalem (10" century B.C.) was the most important place of pilgrimage for Jewish people. It |
was ﬁrst dest:royed Zvy the Babilonians (578 B.C.), then by the Romans (70 B.C.). [
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Window of the Choir. This set does nort fall wichin the cyc]e of festive windows. It depicts a pair of‘hal‘ps and
the sign:ﬂling silver shofars of the Holy Temple. Above the main pands the date of creating the windows
(1902) and a line from Psalm 146, Verse 2 can be read in Hebrew.
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Window of Historic Events. This ]arge upstairs window, above the main entrance, does not fall within
the cycle of festive windows either; it serves historical remembrance. Since Jewish religion is a historical
one, remembrance connects the historical facts of recent and biblical times. In the focal point of the top
part, symbols (cultic dishes, breastplate of the high priest, menorah, priestly b]essing) of the Sanctuary of |
]erusa]em remind of the biblical times. The 1a1‘ge window depicts the Old Synagogue at the time of the |
Great Flood in 1879, as well as the building of the New Synagogue. Among the emblems of architect Lipot |
Baumhorn (compass, ruler, pencil, chisel), his name can be read on the 1‘ight side; while on the left side, the |
crest of noble Dr. [zs6 Rosa, president of the Jewish community at the time of building the synagogue, was

placed.
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Detail from the Window of Historic Events — New Synagogue of Szeged
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The Cupola is the most outstanding part of the bui]ding. [ts 24 piﬂars refer to the 24 hours in a day as well as
to the 24 books of the Old Testament. Above these, the white flowers on deep blue background symbolize
faith, while the lower greenish-brownish strip stands for the Earth, and the stars on the top, with David’s
star in the centre, in blue background symbolize the sky. |
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